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THE OPPORTUNITY AT HOME

As our peers boast about flights to 
Dallas and Guangzhou, we remain 
focused on our home market of 
Kuwait and point-to-point regional 
travel. Kuwait is one of the most 
active travel markets in the Gulf 
and Levant, with 9 million travelers 
passing through Kuwait International 
Airport in 2013. Our growth 
opportunity is at home.
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* Based on internal reporting measures.

OPERATING 
REVENUE

KD 65.6 MILLION

+4.7%
from FY2012’s 
KD 62.6 million

+11.4%
from FY2012’s 
KD 18.5 million

+19.6%
from FY2012’s 
KD 13.9 million

+5.1%
from FY2012 

OPERATING 
PROFIT

KD 20.6 MILLION

NET
PROFIT

KD 16.7 MILLION

AVERAGE 
YIELD

NET PROFIT 2010 to 2013 AVERAGE YIELD 2010 to 2013

HARD ASSETS OF

KD158
MILLION
EQUITY IMPROVED BY

KD17
MILLION
DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO 
IMPROVED TO 

1.4 FROM 1.7 
IN 2012

1.14 MILLION
FLOWN PASSENGERS

IN 2013

94% ON-TIME
PERFORMANCE

#1 IN THE MIDDLE
EAST IN 2013

10,456
TAKE-OFFS
IN 2013

2013 FINANCIAL AND
           OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

*
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JAZEERA AIRWAYS GROUP:
                 A Unique Business Model

SAHAAB AIRCRAFT LEASING JAZEERA AIRWAYS

15 A320 AIRCRAFT
14 ALREADY DELIVERED AND PLACED, LAST REMAINING 

AIRCRAFT TO BE DELIVERED IN 2014

STEADY
REVENUES AND CASH FLOWS

BALANCED
GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION

94% ON TIME
 BEST IN THE MIDDLE EAST

LARGEST
CARRIER OUT OF KUWAIT SERVING 

THE REGION

420
PEOPLE

20
DESTINATIONS

8
AIRBUS A320 IN 

OPERATION

ASSET DISTRIBUTION DESTINATION NETWORK

1. Aleppo
2. Alexandria
3. Amman
4. Assiut
5. Bahrain
6. Beirut
7. Cairo

8. Damascus
9. Deir Ezzor
10. Dubai
11. DWC
12. Istanbul
13. Jeddah
14. Kuwait

15. Luxor
16. Mashhad
17. Najaf
18. Riyadh
19. Sharm El Sheikh
20. Sohag

JAZEERA AIRWAYS:
NETWORK AREA

SAHAAB AIRCRAFT LEASING:
ASSET DISTRIBUTION AND CUSTOMERS

A combination that reduces risk 
and empowers the Group to take 
advantage of opportunities in 
both business lines.

JAZEERA AIRWAYS SAHAAB AIRCRAFT LEASING

REVENUE

NET PROFIT
(Pre-tax)
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OUR STRATEGY

2005-2009
Grow and expand
to twenty-seven 
destinations

2010-2011
Adjusted to nineteen 
destinations, 
resized operation, 
enhanced business model        

AT FIRST

THEN

Focus on maximizing 
profitability without 
major network 
expansion         

2012-2014

NOW
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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

Dear Shareholder,

We started the year with a mission to beat our record performance in 2012. By the time you 
read this, you would have already seen our headline financial results and why the year 2013 
was the best performing year for our eight-year-old company. The Group’s 2013 operating 
profits stood at KD20.6 million, up 11.4% from the previous year. Our operating revenue 
stood at KD65.6 million, up 4.7% from 2012. And our net profit was KD16.7 million, a 19.6% 
increase from last year. I am confident to say that this double digit growth in profitability 
for three years in-a-row is a testament to two things. One, it is a testament to the quality 
and professionalism of the management and operations team at Jazeera Airways Group. 
And two, it is a testament to the opportunities that exist in our home and regional markets, 
which many have written off unfortunately. To know more about our financial results, please 
browse through the financial statements section of this report as I would like to dedicate 
the rest of this letter to discuss the opportunities in the Kuwait market and the region.

Like I said, many have written off our market and the region in recent years. Some did 
because they are generally discouraged by political turmoil in some of our region’s cities, 
and that’s understandable. And others have written off our market after seeing regional 
giants, and up-and-comers as well, falter. It has been five years since the financial crisis 
that hit every sector to the point where the word ‘provisions’ has become a household 
word. And in our sector, industry insiders have written off regional airlines as they grew 
accustomed to seeing airlines as global entities that frequently launch new routes and add 
long haul aircraft to their fleets on a monthly basis, forgetting that regional travel is where 
the value is. Indeed, regional travel is where we make money. And if you are an efficient 
and a quality regional airline, Kuwait is where you want to be and Jazeera Airways Group 
has the right business structure to take advantage of these opportunities. 

Our business today has a very unique operating model. We operate and run a Kuwait-based 
commercial passenger airline that serves the region under the brand Jazeera Airways, and 
we operate an aircraft leasing business under the brand Sahaab Aircraft Leasing (Sahaab), 
which has assets placed with reputable airlines in North America, the Middle East, and Asia.  
In 2013, Jazeera Airways contributed 75% to the Group’s bottom line and Sahaab contributed 
25%. In 2012, the contribution was 59% and 41% respectively, and in 2011 the contribution 
was shared equally. 

I would like to emphasize at this point that the consistent increase in Jazeera Airways’ 
contribution came from growth in the airline’s profitability and not from a decrease in the 
profitability of the leasing business. In fact, the increase in the airline’s contribution was 
driven by carrying passengers at higher average yields, which themselves (the yields) have 
grown from KD25 per passenger in 2009 to KD52.27 per passenger in 2013. 

As you can clearly see, our growth was and continues to be driven by regional travel that 
is led by our home market despite the political turmoil and the economic pessimism 
we’re surrounded with. This is because regional air travel doesn’t stop, especially in 
the Middle East where rail is absent, regional network of highways are lacking, and 
maritime lines are not common, leaving regional air travel as the only efficient mean of 
traveling, and even more so in Kuwait, a country that has a very active travel culture.
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We are a national carrier of Kuwait 
and we embody all of what it 
means to be one. We recruit locally 
and proudly wear the flag. We lend 
a helping hand when needed and 
ran massive airlifts of passengers 
in war zones and turbulent cities, 
including Aleppo, Damascus, and 
Beirut. We believe in the future 
of Kuwait’s airline industry, and 
when we’re congratulated for 
being the Middle East’s on-time 
airline for three years in-a-row, or 
when respected for our operational 
excellence, we proudly say we are 
from Kuwait.  

KUWAIT’S NATIONAL CARRIER

10
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The domestic pull

For Jazeera Airways, the growth opportunity is at home. Allow me to run you through 
a few statistics. Kuwait is ranked eighth globally in GDP per capita by the International 
Monetary Fund with over half of the population considered affluent. Kuwait is 
also home to over 3.2 million people, about 1.2 million of whom are Kuwaitis and 
permanently reside in the country and the rest are split between professional and 
unskilled expatriates mostly from neighboring countries. However, this small and 
organically growing population is not only increasing in affluence but is also a young 
population with more than half of the Kuwaiti population falling under the age of 
25 and who are lining up to join the workforce, which has seen private sector hiring 
double in the first half of 2013 versus 2012’s full-year hirings (Full year 2013 hiring 
numbers weren’t available at the time of writing this letter)*. Whereas the public sector, 
which employs most of the working Kuwaitis, saw an 18% increase in salaries on the 
back of 2012’s 20% increase. All these indicators combined, along with the fact that 
local banks saw a 7% increase in deposits in the first 11 months of 2013 and consumer 
point of sale transactions rose by 18% in the first half of 2013 alone, prove that the 
opportunities are indeed at home with several growth possibilities on the horizon**. 
Now, one might ask how does this increase in wages, hiring, and consumption impact 
our business? Well, the impact is direct. 

In 2013, close to 9.4 million passengers passed through Kuwait International Airport 
(KIA), constituting a 6% increase in Kuwait’s only passenger airport. On first look, the 
figure pales in comparison to hubs in the region. For example, Dubai International 
Airport reported that it handled 66.4 million passengers in 2013. However, industry 
insiders know that the calculation includes transit and connecting passengers, as it 
should. However, to measure the true value of the domestic traveling population one 
needs to remove the transit and connecting passengers from the calculation. And once 
that it is done, the remaining figure is actually in the very low double digits for most 
of the hubs in our region, such as Doha and Abu Dhabi where the numbers of transit 
passengers have doubled to the extent that the number of point-to-point passengers 
to these destinations is far below Kuwait’s 9.4 million passengers thus proving the 
attractiveness and potential of Kuwait’s domestic travel population. Add to that the 
growth of Jazeera Airways’ yields of 109% from 2008 to 2013, and the picture is 
complete.

To capitalize on these opportunities, we have invested in on-ground facilities and 
continue to invest in fleet modernization in order to always have a reliable, in-demand 
product. On ground, Jazeera Airways is currently building its own gates and state-of-the-
art bridges at Kuwait International Airport. Once operational in the second quarter of 
2014, these gates will enable Jazeera Airways to offer an even better and more efficient 
customer experience. 

In the air, Jazeera Airways Group is embarking on a fleet modernization program in 
the coming years. The Board and I look forward to making an announcement on the 
selected manufacturer in the third quarter of the year. 



1212

OUR MISSION

Our mission is to deliver value to 
shareholders and customers, to 
society and partners, by delivering 
an efficient and reliable travel 
experience from booking to arrival. 

12
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*Kuwait Economic Update, National Bank of Kuwait, September 2013. 
** Full-year figures not available at the time of writing this letter.

Our on-ground investments and modernization program will continue to position Jazeera 
Airways as the preferred airline for regional travel as well as empower us to take 
advantage of the coming opportunities in 2014 and beyond. And that is why we believe 
that the opportunities are at home and that’s what we are doing to capitalize on them 
in the near future. For now, I would like to leave you with some of the noteworthy 
highlights of the year.

2013 Milestones 

• Jazeera Airways Group secured funding for the three remaining aircraft on an order 
of 15 A320s. The structured loan was led by Kuwait’s NBK and DVB Bank SE. As a 
result of the loan, the company has secured its financial commitments for the fleet. 

• Jazeera Airways Group received two brand new Airbus A320 from the manufacturer. 
To date, Jazeera Airways Group has taken delivery of 14 Airbus A320s since 2005, as 
part of an order for 15 aircraft of the same type. The remaining aircraft of the order 
is scheduled to be delivered in May of 2014. 

• Kuwait Stock Exchange (KSE) inducted Jazeera Airways into the ‘Kuwait 15 index 
KSX15’ - an index of the 15 top performers on the KSE. The KSX15 is defined by the 
KSE as their “flagship index... designed to be a bellwether indicator of the Kuwaiti 
economy and to track the performance of the Kuwait stock market”.

• Jazeera Airways launched two weekly flights to Dubai’s new Al Maktoum 
International Airport at Dubai World Central. 

• Sahaab Aircraft Leasing placed an aircraft on long-term lease with KSA-based FlyNas.

I thank our team for another great year.

Regards, 

Marwan M. Boodai
Chairman
Marwan M. Boodai
Chairman
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OUR SUCCESS

Our success is attributed to the 
team who operates our fleet, to the 
people who work in our offices, our 
call centers, our airports, and to our 
partners and regulators. Thank you 
for making Jazeera Airways Group 
successful.
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OUR BOOKINGS CAME FROM

WEBSITE MOBILE CALL CENTER TRAVEL AGENTS

BOOKINGCHECK-IN GENDER DISTRIBUTION

38,631
NUMBER OF 

ONLINE CHECK-IN

69% 31%

MALE FEMALE

AVERAGE PASSENGERS 
PER BOOKING

2.368

PAX WHO FLEW 
MORE THAN ONCE

287,984

PAX WHO FLEW 
MORE THAN TWICE

47,974

PAX WHO FLEW MORE
THAN THREE TIMES

16,010

PAX UNDER 12 
YEARS OLD

79,564

12,507,641 km
TRAVELING THE EARTH’S CIRCUMFERENCE 312 TIMES IN 2013

2013 TRAVEL HABITS
               INSIGHTS

15
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OUR RESPONSIBILITY

Though it might not be expected 
from a Middle East airline, we 
believe we should act responsibly 
even when we are not legally 
required to. Our model of operations 
at Jazeera Airways Group mandates 
that we only operate the most 
modern aircraft that are equipped 
with the latest noise-reducing 
and environmentally friendly 
technologies. Our customers can 
count on us for flying new and 
modern aircraft, for striving to 
being on-time every time, and for 
providing them with an efficient 
travel experience.

16
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

At Jazeera Airways Group, corporate governance is about commitment 
to values and ethical business conduct. It is about how we manage 
our business. This includes our corporate and other structures, 
our culture, policies and the manner in which we deal with 
various stakeholders. Accordingly, timely and accurate disclosure 
of information regarding the financial situation, performance, 
ownership and governance of the company is an important part of 
our corporate governance. This improves public understanding of the 
structure, activities and policies of the organization. Consequently, 
the Jazeera Airways Group is then enabled further to attract 
investors, and enhance the trust and confidence of the stakeholders.

Accordingly, we always seek to ensure that we attain our 
performance goals with integrity. Our Board exercises its fiduciary 
responsibilities in the widest sense of the term. We also endeavor 
to enhance long-term shareholder value and respect minority rights 
in all our business decisions.

Our corporate governance philosophy is based on the following 
principles:
1. Satisfy the spirit of the law and not just the letter of the law. 
2. Be transparent and maintain a high degree of disclosure levels. 
3. Make a clear distinction between personal conveniences and 

corporate resources.
4. Communicate externally, in a truthful manner, about how the 

company is run internally. 
5. Comply with the laws in the countries in which we operate.
6. Have a simple and transparent corporate structure driven solely 

by business needs. 
7. Management is the trustee of the shareholders’ capital and not 

the owner. 

The Board of Directors is at the core of our corporate governance 
practice here at Jazeera Airways Group and oversees how the 
Management team serves and protects the long-term interests 
of all our stakeholders. We believe that an active, well-informed 
and competent Board is necessary to ensure highest standards of 
corporate governance.

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code issued by the 
Capital Markets Authority (CMA), we are pleased to submit to you 
herewith the development of the implementation of corporate 
governance standards within your company for the year 2013.

I - Overview of Governance Structure 
The Board
The Board of Directors of Jazeera Airways Group is appointed by 
shareholders through an election held at the Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting, and the tenure of each Board member is 
limited to three years. While forming the Board of Directors, the 
company assesses the profiles and experience of the individuals to 
ensure that they are able to perform the roles and responsibilities 
entrusted to them. Members of the Board of Jazeera Airways Group 
for the year 2013 are listed in the Board of Directors section. 

Board Composition 
The Board of Directors* consists of five members of whom the 
majority are non-executive and who can assess objectively the 
performance of the company independently from the Executive 
Management and the shareholders. With this composition, the 

Board ensures objectivity and accountability in the decision making 
process, and limits conflict of interest that may arise between the 
strategic decision making process and the day to day operation of 
the company.
* The appointment of independent members is in progress.

Terms of Reference of the Chairman
The role and responsibilities of the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors include but are not limited to the following:
1. To call for Board of Directors meetings.
2. To supervise and approve the agenda of the Board of Directors 

meetings and issues for discussion during the meeting.
3. To start the discussion in the Board of Directors meetings 

ensuring that the Board discusses all the major issues in an 
effective and timely manner.

4. To ensure that the available information required by Board of 
Directors members related to the issues under discussion is 
adequate and correct.

5. To supervise the flow of discussion in the Board of Directors 
meetings and ensure that the issues have been discussed 
effectively and in a suitable time.

6. To encourage members of the Board of Directors to attend 
all Board of Directors meetings and the meetings of the 
committees emerging from the Board, to ensure that the 
members are sharing their missions and responsibilities in an 
effective manner, and to promote positive relationships among 
Board of Directors members.

7. To sign the Board of Directors resolutions.
8. To communicate with the shareholders and convey their 

opinions to the Board of Directors.
9. To supervise the annual assessment of the performance of the 

Board of Directors.
10. To sign the quarterly, semi-annual, and annual financial 

statements of the company.
11. To present the report of the Board of Directors to the 

shareholders in the general assembly meetings.
12. Encouraging constructive relations and effective communication 

between the Board and the Executive Management, and among 
the executive and non-executive members.

13. Creating a culture that encourages constructive criticism on 
issues in which there is divergence of opinions among Board 
members.

Terms of reference of the Board of Directors
1. Provide business strategies, objectives, policies and direct the 

development of internal control systems and periodically review 
the same.

2. Form the organizational structure of the company and evaluate, 
develop, and identify the tasks and powers, duties and 
responsibilities.

3. Form committees; establish their work programs; determine 
their powers, duties, and responsibilities and delegate decision- 
making powers, defining the authority level to sign on behalf of 
the company.

4. Evaluate current and future risks that the company might be 
exposed to and adopt risk treatments plans and risk mitigation 
policies and procedures.

5. Supervise the development, implementation, and evaluation 
of work programs and procedures and verify their adequacy 
and appropriateness in view of the size and complexity of the 
operations.
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6. Appoint the internal auditors and supervise and ensure its 
impartiality and independence.

7. Nominate the external auditor, who must be specialists and 
highly qualified, and contract with it and determine its fees.

8. Review reports of the executive management, internal audit, 
and external audit and approve the final financial statements of 
the company.

9. Adopt annual estimated budgets and interim and annual 
financial statements.

10. Oversee major capital expenditures for the company and the 
ownership and disposal of assets.

11. Implement a corporate governance system for the company – 
which does not conflict with these rules – and perform general 
supervision and monitoring over the degree of its effectiveness 
and amend it when needed.

12. Ensure that the organizational structure of the company is 
transparent and clear, which would allow for a process of 
decision making and achieving the principles of sound corporate 
governance and the segregation of powers and authorities 
between the Board of Directors and the Executive Management.

13. Adopt regulations and internal control systems relating to the 
company and develop and define roles, specialties, duties and 
responsibilities among the different organizational levels.

14. Adopt a delegation of authority policy for the tasks entrusted 
to the Executive Management and define the authorities 
that have been delegated to the Executive Management and 
the procedures of decision making and the duration of such 
delegation. The Board also defines the areas that it retains the 
authority to decide upon. The Executive Management is required 
to report on the authorities delegated to it on a periodical basis.

15. Monitor and supervise the performance of Executive 
Management and ensure that they perform the roles entrusted 
to them ensuring that the Executive Management is operating 
according to the policies and regulations approved by the Board 
of Directors.

16. Hold periodical meetings with Executive Management to 
discuss the course of action and any challenges or issues, 
review and discuss important information related to the 
company’s activity.

17. Implement performance standards for the Executive 
Management which is in-line with the objectives and strategies 
of the company.

18. Identify the remunerations that will be provided to the 
employees, such as fixed remunerations and performance based 
remunerations.

19. Appoint or dismiss any member of the Executive Management, 
including the Chief Executive Officer or anyone under him.

20. Implement a policy organizing the relationship with 
stakeholders in order to protect their rights.

21. Implement a mechanism to organize dealing with related 
parties, in order to limit and address any conflict of interest.

22. Ensure, on a periodical basis, the effectiveness and adequacy 
of internal control systems applicable in the company and the 
subsidiaries.

23. Verify the accuracy and credibility of the financial statements 
of the company and of its business results to safeguard the 
rights of the shareholders.

24. Form specialized committees according to the charter 
and define the duration of the committee, authorities, 
responsibilities and how the Board monitors it. The decision to 

form a committee also includes the appointment of members 
and defining their roles, rights and duties, as well as evaluating 
the performance and actions of these committees and its 
primary members.

Terms of reference of the Executive Management
It should be noted that there is a separation of responsibilities 
between the positions of the Chairman and the CEO of the company, 
as these positions are handled by two different individuals.

1. Executing the various policies, regulations and the internal control 
procedures of the company approved by the Board of Directors.

2. Executing strategies and annual plans approved by the Board of 
Directors.

3. Preparing periodical reports (financial and non-financial) 
regarding the progress of the company’s activity in light of the 
strategic plans and goals of the company and presenting these 
reports to the Board of Directors.

4. Implementing a complete accounting system that maintains 
ledgers, registers and accounts that presents accurately and 
in details the financial data and profit & loss accounts, which 
allows maintaining the company’s assets and preparing financial 
statements according to the international accounting standards 
approved by the Capital Markets Authority.

5. Managing day to day activities of the business, as well as 
managing the company’s resources optimally and working on 
increasing profits and reducing expenditures in accordance to the 
objectives and strategies of the company.

6. Effective contribution in the establishment and development of 
ethical standards in the company.

7. Implementing internal control and risk management systems 
and ensuring its effectiveness and adequacy, while taking into 
account and complying with the company’s risk appetite that is 
approved by the Board of Directors.

Board Meeting Protocols
The Board of Directors organizes periodic meetings and identifies 
the items on the Agenda relating to the Company’s activity that 
will be discussed in such meetings. The other major policies 
relating to the meetings that are currently prevalent in Jazeera 
Airways Group are as follows:

1. The number of Board meetings to be held annually should not 
be less than six meetings.

2. The meetings should be attended by at least half of the 
members of the Board of Directors, and the attendees should 
not be less than three.

3. The Board of Directors should hold regular meetings through an 
invitation from the Chairman or by the company Secretary on 
behalf of the Chairman.

4. The Chairman of the Board may convene an emergency meeting 
on the basis of a written request presented by two Board 
members.

5. The company’s policies should include the process of organizing 
attendance of the Board of Directors meetings, as well as to 
deal with the non-attendance of members to these meetings.

6. Provide the members of the Board with the agenda which 
includes the specified subjects along with the supporting 
documents and information needed at least two working days 
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prior to the Board meetings to give members sufficient time to 
study the subjects at hand and take the proper decisions. The 
Board of Directors will adopt the agenda when the meeting is 
convened and in the event of any objection from any member 
on the agenda, the same is documented in details in the 
minutes of meeting.

7. The Board of Directors has a register in which the minutes of 
the Board of Directors meetings are documented sequentially 
as per the year in which the meeting was held, along with 
the location of the meeting, the date, the time at which the 
meeting was convened and ended, and that is in addition to 
the preparation of minutes of the discussions and deliberations, 
including the voting process that has been passed and 
classifying it and safekeeping it for easy reference.

8. The Board of Director has appointed the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) to be the Secretary to the Board with the following 
responsibilities: 

a. Recording, coordinating and safe keeping all minutes of 
meetings of the Board and its registers, agendas and reports 
that are presented by or to the Board and to get the signatures 
on the minutes of meetings of the Board from all members 
present.

b. Ensuring that the members are abiding by the procedures set 
out by the Board and reporting the dates of the Board meetings 
before two working days, taking into account emergency 
meetings.

c. Ensuring that members of the Board of Directors have full 
and timely access to all the minutes of meeting of the Board 
meeting, information, documentation and registers relating to 
the company.

d. It is required by the Secretary of the Board, under the 
supervision of the Chairman, to ensure proper delivery and 
distribution of information and coordination between members 
of the Board and other stakeholders in the company, including 
shareholders, different departments in the company and the 
employees.

II - Committees of the Board
     of Directors
In order to expedite the decision making process and to increase 
the level of transparency and accountability across the organization, 
the Board has formed the following Committees in 2013 with other 
committees to start operation in 2014. 
1. Executive Committee
2. Audit and Risk Committee
3. Remuneration and Reward Committee
4. Human Resource Committee
5. Corporate Governance Committee **
6. Nomination Committee **
7. Safety and Quality Committee
** Committees under formation in 2014.

The Board has laid down the detailed terms of reference for these 
committees in its Corporate Governance Manual laying down the 
composition, the voting rights, frequency of meetings, the duties, 
power and authorities and reporting responsibilities among others. 
We provide relevant extract from the Corporate Governance Manual 
as follows:

a) Executive Committee
i) Scope- It is appointed by the Board to expedite the decision 
making process as per the Delegation of Authority as defined by 
the Board.  
ii) Composition- The Executive Committee of Jazeera Airways 
Group is formed by the Chairman, the Vice Chairman and two non-
executive members of the Board of Directors, with the CEO and CFO 
as invitee-members.
iii) Responsibilities - Major responsibilities include:
1. Assist the Board in carrying out their responsibilities, especially 

for tasks delegated by the Board when timing is critical, except 
for the matters reserved for the Board, as defined in Board 
Charters.

2. Review and provide counsel regarding material issues prior to 
submission to the Board.

3. Have the sole authority to retain and terminate consultants to be 
referred to in matters relating to the development of strategies 
and policies, as well as to negotiate, and approve consultant fees 
on such matters.

4. Ensure that the company’s policies and procedures are updated 
and implemented properly in alignment with the company’s 
goals and objectives.

5. Ensure compliance with corporate governance guidelines, laws, 
rules, and regulations of various statutory authorities and 
regulatory bodies.

6. Review periodic management reports, evaluate performance, and 
investigate budgetary variances (if any) before forwarding to the 
Board of Directors for final approval.

7. Business Planning. 
8. Annual Report coordination and delivery.  
9. Monitor organizational structure and design. 
10. Review annual budgets for recommendation to the Board for 

approval. 
11. Review the annual report and financial statements for tabling to 

the Audit Committee.
12. Develop and approve finance and investment plans or policies 

in light of dynamic economic and market conditions.
13. Develop and approve the company’s need for capital and its 

allocation.
 
b) Audit and Risk Committee 
i) Scope- It is appointed by the Board with oversight responsibilities 
of the Internal and External Audit of the company and to ensure that 
the company works within the risk appetite defined by the Board.
ii) Composition- The Audit and Risk Committee of Jazeera Airways 
Group consists of three members, the Chairman of the committee is 
a non-executive member of the Board of Directors and cannot be the 
Chairman of the Board. 
iii) Responsibilities - Major responsibilities include:
1. Review the financial statements before submitting to the Board 

of Directors along with its recommendations in this regard to 
the Board of Directors to ensure transparency and fairness in the 
financial reports.

2. Submit recommendations to the Board regarding appointment 
and reappointment of external auditor, as well as determining 
their fees.  

3. Monitor the external auditor’s performance, to ensure that 
they are not providing services to company except for services 
required by the audit profession.
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4. Study the external auditor’s observations regarding the financial 
statements and following-up on the status of implementation.

5. Evaluate the adequacy of the internal control systems in the 
company and prepare a report including the opinion and 
recommendation of the committee in this regard.

6. Evaluate the adequacy of the internal audit in the company, 
revise and adapt the proposed audit plan, and review results of 
internal audit reports and ensure that the corrective procedures 
have been taken regarding the observations in the report.

7. Review the results of regulatory authorities’ reports to ensure 
that the necessary follow-up action has been taken in this 
regard.

8. Review the proposed deals and transactions the company 
intends to perform with related parties and provide the proper 
recommendations to the Board.

9. Prepare and review the strategies and policies of risk 
management before it is approved by the Board of Directors, 
and ensure that the same is consistent with the complexity, 
nature and size of the company’s activity.

10. Assist the Board of Directors in identifying and assessing the 
acceptable level of the risks, to ensure that the company does 
not breach this level of the risk after approval from the Board of 
Directors.

11. Prepare periodic reports on the nature of the risks that the 
company may be exposed to and submit it to the Board of 
Directors.

c) Remuneration and Rewards Committee
i) Scope - It is appointed by the Board to establish a clear policy 
for the remuneration of Board members and senior executives 
in Jazeera Airways Group, including, where applicable, fixed 
remunerations, performance remunerations and end of service 
remunerations and annual revision of the remunerations policy 
and evaluation of its efficiency in achieving the objectives such 
as attracting and retaining highly qualified and technical staff to 
improve the company’s performance.  
ii) Composition - The Committee consists of three members 
including two non-executive members of the Board of Directors of 
Jazeera Airways Group.  
iii) Responsibilities - Major responsibilities include:
1. Support and adhere to the Board nomination procedures in line 

with the requirements of applicable laws and regulations. The 
Committee seeks new Board nominees in order to add value 
to the Company and ensure an appropriate composition of the 
Board.

2. Prepare a succession plan for the Board and its Committees, the 
Chief Executive Officer and key members of Management.

3. Review and approve, in consultation with the Chairman of 
the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer, the terms and 
conditions of the service contracts of senior management of the 
company (except that any consultation in relation to the Chief 
Executive Officer of Jazeera Airways Group must be with the 
Chairman of the Board).

4. Review at least annually the remuneration and general 
terms and conditions of employment of senior management 
team members of the Jazeera Airways Group, and make 
recommendations to the Board on any adjustments thereto 
which the Remuneration and Rewards Committee considers 
necessary or desirable.

5. Review and approve, in consultation with the Chairman of 
the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer, the amount of 
compensation to be paid to an Executive Director or senior 
management team member on the termination of his contract 
of service, within the constraints of applicable law and existing 
contracts (except that any consultation in relation to the Chief 
Executive Officer must be with the Chairman of the Board).

6. Formulate and review annually the policy on granting 
remuneration, benefits, incentives and salaries to all other 
employees of the company.

7. Determine the company’s needs for qualified staff at the level of 
senior management and the basis for their selection.

8. Formulate, supervise and review annually the Company’s human 
resources and training policy.

9. Attend to and settle grievances and disputes referred to it 
relating to the terms of service agreements of Executive Directors 
and senior management employees of the company.

10. Consider other matters as referred from time to time to the 
Remuneration and Rewards Committee by the Board. 

d) Human Resource Committee 
i) Scope- The Human Resources Committee shall monitor, review, 
approve and recommend the staff compensation and conduct an 
annual review and assessment of the performance against these 
goals and objectives of staff, other than senior management of 
Jazeera Airways Group.
ii) Composition - The Committee consists of the Chief Executive 
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and a non-executive member of 
the Board who is the Chair of the Committee. 
iii) Responsibilities - Major responsibilities include:
1. Review and approve goals and objectives relevant to the staff 

compensation and conduct an annual review and assessment 
of the performance against these goals and objectives of staff 
below CFO/VP level and review annually their performance.

2. Review and recommend for consideration and approval, the 
actual total direct compensation to be awarded to company 
employees defined in the first point above.

3. Consider and recommend for approval the overall annual 
spending for the applicable company base pay and annual cash 
bonus programs.

4. Review for approval existing management resources and plans, 
including recruitment and training programs, for ensuring that 
qualified personnel will be available for succession to higher 
level positions.

5. Consider the proposed changes in the organization or personnel 
affecting the staff defined above, and recommend approval on 
any change.

6. Discharge any other related responsibilities assigned by the Board 
to the Committee.

e) Safety and Quality Committee
Safety and Quality Committee is responsible for assisting the Board 
in fulfilling its strategy, policy, monitoring and corporate governance 
responsibilities in regard to safety, health, environment and security 
matters including: Compliance with related legal and regulatory 
obligations, implementing and monitoring enterprise-wide safety 
and quality checks.
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III - Board of Directors

Jazeera Airways Group has developed and distributed the Corporate 
Governance Manual to all Board members to ensure that they have 
suitable understanding of the company’s flow of work and operations 
and of their terms of reference. The Corporate Governance Manual 
addresses, among others, the following issues:
1. Purpose and administration of the Corporate Governance 

Manual.
2. Corporate governance framework.
3. The Board, its composition, rules, roles and responsibilities.
4. The Board Committees, its composition, rules, roles and 

responsibilities.
5. Delegation of powers to Management.
6. Integrity of financial reporting.
7. Relationship with shareholders and conduct of General Assembly 

Meetings.
8. Internal Control Systems and Internal Audit Department.
9. Selection and engagement of external auditors.
10. Company’s disclosure obligations.
11. Terms of reference of the Board of Directors.
12. Formation and terms of reference of the Board Committees.
13. Code of Conduct of directors and employees.
14. Share dealing policy.
15. Corporate social responsibility.
16. Policies and rights of shareholders and stakeholders.
17. Code of ethics and code of conduct.

Composition of the Board of Directors of 
Jazeera Airways Group

Mr. Marwan Marzouk Boodai
Chairman 
Marwan Boodai is the CEO of BoodaiCorp, the institutional founder 
of Jazeera Airways, and the Chairman of Jazeera Airways Group. 
Before chairing the Board, Marwan and the core founding team 
led the establishment process of the airline from raising capital 
for the airline, which was the first non-government airline in the 
Middle East, to securing traffic rights, fleet, and financing. Marwan 
continues to have an active role in steering the strategic direction 
of the company, especially in 2009 and 2010 when he led the Turn-
Around Plan to bring the company back to profitability. Jazeera 
Airways Group returned to profitability in the third quarter of 2010 
with record quarterly earnings. The company continued to have 
record profits for every quarter since then.

Marwan Boodai sits on several Jazeera Airways Group committees, 
including governance and financial oversight committees. 

Mr. Jassim Marzouk Boodai 
Vice Chairman
With over 30 years’ experience in Kuwait’s dynamic financial sector, 
Jassim brings to the Board a unique and valuable perspective. Over 
the years, Jassim has served on Boards in the banking and financial 
services sector including serving on the Boards of the Commercial 
Bank of Kuwait, the Industrial Bank of Kuwait, and The Securities 
Group Company. He had also been a member of the Administrative 
Board at the Kuwait Clearance Co.

In addition to his tenure on Jazeera Airways Group’s Board, Jassim is 
also the Vice Chairman of the Board at BoodaiCorp, and the Chairman 
of Al Rai Media Group’s Board. Jassim Boodai holds a Bachelor’s 
degree in Business Administration from Kuwait University.

Mr. Ahmad Abdalla, Ph.D. 
Board Member
Ahmad is a Director with BoodaiCorp and has joined the company 
in January of 2013 to manage the Human Capital function. Prior 
to that, he was a Senior Vice President with Agility where he has 
assumed several posts including Management Systems, Corporate 
Finance, Project Management Office and Human Capital. Prior to his 
tenure at Agility, he worked in North America for 18 years where 
he held different positions in the areas of Management and IT 
consulting. Ahmad has a proven track record in various verticals with 
a client base focus in Fortune 500 companies where he has advised 
numerous clients on strategy development and management, 
organization restructuring, business process outsourcing, business 
performance management, program portfolio management, project 
management and enterprise systems implementations. The list of 
his employers and clients includes Andersen Consulting, Verizon, 
Prudential, Trilogy Software, CBSI/Covansys, AT&T and Riyad Bank. 
In addition, Ahmad serves on the Board of several companies in 
various verticals. Ahmad has a Ph.D. in Control Systems (ME) from 
Columbia University in New York.

Mr. Hany Shawky 
Board Member
Hany is a Board Member at Jazeera Airways Group since 2011. 
He leads on investments, divestments, acquisitions and business 
performance oversight of BoodaiCorp subsidiaries and holdings. 
Prior to joining BoodaiCorp, he was a partner at Global Capital 
Management Ltd, a fully-owned subsidiary of Kuwait’s Global 
Investment House with USD$3.2 billion in assets under management 
in the Middle East and North Africa region. In the last 10 years, Hany 
has led investments and expansions in Sudan, Yemen, Egypt, Kuwait, 
Dubai, and Jordan. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce and 
Business Administration from Helwan University, Egypt, and has 
over 15 years of experience in asset management.  

Mr. Mohammad M. Khan
Board Member
Serving on the Board since 2012 with a track-record in landmark 
M&A transactions including the acquisition of Hilal Cement by 
Italcementi, which was the largest Foreign Direct Investment 
transaction in Kuwait’s history. Khan also served (sell-side) on the 
KD50 million acquisition of Jassim Transport  & Stevedoring Company 
by Global Buyout Fund and on the acquisition of Sahaab Aircraft 
Leasing by Jazeera Airways Group in 2010. He serves on the Boards 
of Gulf District Cooling Co., Gulf Engineering Co., Kuwait Application 
Service Provider Co, and several audit committees for companies 
listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. Khan holds a bachelor’s degree 
in Finance.
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OUR PERFORMANCE

Our performance in 2013 continued 
our profitability streak for the 
third year in-a-row, making us 
one of a handful of consistently 
profitable companies operating in 
the government-controlled and 
dominated travel and aviation sector 
in the Middle East. 
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THE MANAGEMENT TEAM

Vice President
Industry Affairs

With over 25 years’ experience in the air transport industry, 
Bader joined Jazeera Airways in 2004 as part of the core 
start-up team that structured and established the airline in 
2005. Between 2005 and 2010, Bader was instrumental in 
obtaining traffic rights to over 28 destinations in the Middle 
East, North Africa, and South East Asia.

Today, Bader is responsible for legal counsel and 
negotiations with relevant governmental departments 
to ensure that the company’s needs and requirements 
across the network are met in compliance with different 
regulatory authorities at all times.

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways, Bader was the Director 
of Air Transport at the Directorate General of Civil Aviation 
of Kuwait, where he led and participated in various 
governmental bilateral negotiations.

BADER N AL-MERSHED

Vice President
Ground Operations & Product

Ali joined Jazeera Airways Group in 2004 as part of the 
airline’s start-up team, bringing with him over 30 years’ 
experience in ground operations and passenger services. 
His responsibilities at Jazeera Airways cover network-
wide airport operations, product enhancements, ground 
handling, catering, and in-flight services.

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways Group, Ali was a member of 
the Air Arabia start-up team, where he was also responsible 
for sales and marketing, in addition to his many years at 
British Airways.

ALI FAIROOZ

Chief Operating Officer & Accountable 
Manager 

With over 33 years’ experience in aircraft engineering 
and quality assurance, Abdullah joined the Jazeera 
Airways Group in 2004 to start-up and run the airline’s 
engineering and maintenance operations. He moved to 
look after the fleet’s line, light and heavy maintenance, 
engine maintenance, outstation maintenance, technical 
certification and handling, and new aircraft inspection 
during the assembly phase in Toulouse and Hamburg. 

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways Group, Abdullah was the 
director of Maintenance and Engineering at Yemenia 
Airways. 

ABDULLAH AL-HUDAID

Chief Financial
Officer

Donald is a Chartered Accountant with over 25 years in 
commercial finance and has been with Jazeera Airways 
since June 2010. Today Donald is Group CFO and leads on 
finance and funding matters in addition to managing the 
day-to-day financial activities for the company.

His past experience includes senior financial management 
positions in telecommunications, physical security and IT 
spreading across Southern Africa, Asia, the UK and the 
Middle East.

Before joining Jazeera Airways Group, Donald was the 
Finance Director of Air Arabia since startup in 2003, and 
later Air Arabia’s Director of Strategy and Planning. He was 
also the founding CEO responsible for setting up Air Arabia’s 
Nepal hub.

DONALD HUBBARD

Vice President 
Network & Revenue Management

Martin joined the Jazeera Airways team in February 2010 
with over 15 years’ experience in pricing and planning in 
the airline industry. At Jazeera Airways, Martin is responsible 
for the areas of network planning, scheduling, pricing, and 
revenue management. Martin had a lead role in the redesign 
of the airline’s network for the Turn-Around Plan. 

Martin’s 17-year career in the airline industry started with 
Swissair in 1994 and subsequently went on to hold senior 
management positions with Swiss International Airlines, 
Swiss Federal Railways, Luxair and Qatar Airways. His last post 
prior to joining Jazeera Airways in 2010 was Head of Network 
Planning at Qatar Airways.

MARTIN AEBERLI

Vice President
Sales

Rafik has over 31 years’ experience in sales and aviation. 
At Jazeera Airways, Rafik leads sales across all distribution 
channels and segments and is responsible for ancillary 
revenues, sales cost control, corporate sales network-wide, 
and travel trade relations. Rafik had a leading role in the 
setup of the company’s franchise offices across the network 
and in introducing Jazeera Airways Holidays.

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways, Rafik spent 23 years in 
a leading management role at Deutsche Lufthansa AG 
in both Kuwait and Egypt.

RAFIK BOGHDADY

Vice President
Training

Captain Nasser is the senior training pilot and deck crew 
training, overseeing all flight training operations.

Captain Nasser is one of the leading training experts in 
the region who joined Jazeera Airways following a 30-year 
career with Kuwait Airways.

CAPT. NASSER AL-AJMI

Vice President
Operations

With over 34 years’ experience in aviation, Captain Falah 
is responsible for flight operations management, flight 
planning, performance, operational control, and crew 
scheduling in accordance with the requirements of Jazeera 
Airways AOC, international legal requirements and Civil 
Aviation Authorities regulations.

At Jazeera Airways, Captain Falah was instrumental in the 
establishment of the company’s pilot training department 
and securing manpower and other operational resources 
necessary to support the company’s operations and growth.

Prior to joining Jazeera Airways, Captain Falah had a 30-
year career with Kuwait Airways. He is one of the leading 
aviation experts in the region and a leader in his field.

CAPT. FALAH HAMOUD AL-SHAMMARI



Jazeera Airways K.S.C.P
Kuwait

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE 
SHAREHOLDERS

Report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Jazeera 
Airways K.S.C.P (“the Ultimate Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (“together 
called the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Ultimate Parent Company’s management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and their 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of accounts have been kept by the 
Ultimate Parent Company and the consolidated financial statements, together with 
the contents of the report of the Ultimate Parent Company’s Board of Directors 
relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. 
We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations that 
we required for the purpose of our audit; and that the consolidated financial 
statements incorporate all information that is required by Companies Law No. 
25 of 2012 as amended and by the Ultimate Parent Company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation and Articles of Association; that an inventory was duly carried 
out; and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the 
Companies Law No. 25 of 2012 as amended or of the Ultimate Parent Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association have occurred during 
the year ended 31 December 2013 that might have had a material effect on the 
business of the Group or on its consolidated financial position.

Bader A. Al-Wazzan  Rabea Saad Al-Muhanna
Licence No. 62A  Licence No. 152A
Deloitte & Touche  Horwath Al-Muhanna & Co.
Al-Wazzan & Co.  

Kuwait
28 January 2014

Deloitte & Touche
Al-Wazzan & Co.

Ahmed Al-Jaber Street, Sharq 
Dar Al-Awadi Complex, Floors 7 & 9
P.O. Box 20174 Safat 13062 or
P.O. Box 23049 Safat 13091
Kuwait
Tel :  + 965 22408844, 22438060
Fax:  + 965 22408855, 22452080
www.deloitte.com
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Kuwait

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE 
SHAREHOLDERS

Report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Jazeera 
Airways K.S.C.P (“the Ultimate Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (“together 
called the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Ultimate Parent Company’s management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and their 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of accounts have been kept by the 
Ultimate Parent Company and the consolidated financial statements, together with 
the contents of the report of the Ultimate Parent Company’s Board of Directors 
relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. 
We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations that 
we required for the purpose of our audit; and that the consolidated financial 
statements incorporate all information that is required by Companies Law No. 
25 of 2012 as amended and by the Ultimate Parent Company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation and Articles of Association; that an inventory was duly carried 
out; and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the 
Companies Law No. 25 of 2012 as amended or of the Ultimate Parent Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association have occurred during 
the year ended 31 December 2013 that might have had a material effect on the 
business of the Group or on its consolidated financial position.

Bader A. Al-Wazzan  Rabea Saad Al-Muhanna
Licence No. 62A  Licence No. 152A
Deloitte & Touche  Horwath Al-Muhanna & Co.
Al-Wazzan & Co.  

Kuwait
28 January 2014

Deloitte & Touche
Al-Wazzan & Co.

Ahmed Al-Jaber Street, Sharq 
Dar Al-Awadi Complex, Floors 7 & 9
P.O. Box 20174 Safat 13062 or
P.O. Box 23049 Safat 13091
Kuwait
Tel :  + 965 22408844, 22438060
Fax:  + 965 22408855, 22452080
www.deloitte.com

Horwath Al-Muhanna & Co.
Certified Accountants
Member Crowe Horwath International

P.O. Box 26154, Safat 13122
Kuwait
Tel :  + 965 224 525 46/7/8
Fax:  + 965 224 525 49
www.crowehorwath.com.kw

25



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2013

Kuwaiti Dinars

Note 2013 2012

ASSETS
Non- current Assets
Property and equipment 4 154,039,205 140,869,217
Advance for maintenance 3,797,061 3,479,883
Deposits 5 863,830 860,803
Goodwill 6 3,443,481 3,443,481

162,143,577 148,653,384
Current Assets
Inventories, expendable parts and supplies 210,229 221,930
Trade and other receivables 7 1,392,372 1,475,625
Cash and bank balances 8 43,263,789 47,887,598

44,866,390 49,585,153
Total assets 207,009,967 198,238,537

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Equity
Attributable to Ultimate Parent Company’s shareholders
Share capital 9 42,000,000 24,200,000
Share capital – rights issue - 17,800,000
Legal reserve 10 4,482,688 2,737,593
Retained earnings 29,206,674 14,278,364
Foreign currency translation reserve (883,218) (991,311)

74,806,144 58,024,646
Non-controlling interest 428 357
Total equity 74,806,572 58,025,003
Non-current liabilities
Term loans 11 80,537,379 76,197,067
Post employment benefits 1,743,934 1,466,608
Security deposits from lessees 1,513,204 1,260,448
Advance received from lessees 12 9,791,498 8,177,821

93,586,015 87,101,944
Current liabilities
Term loans 11 21,215,398 17,572,209
Due to banks 13 295,250 114,621
Due to a related party - 2,234,495
Trade and other payables 14 9,221,207 10,941,060 
Deferred revenue 7,885,525 7,249,205
Deferred purchase consideration - 15,000,000

38,617,380 53,111,590
Total liabilities and equity 207,009,967 198,238,537

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Marwan Marzouk Boodai
Chairman
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Consolidated Statement of Income year ended 31 December 2013

Note 2013 2012

Revenue 15 65,558,805 62,603,224
Operating costs 16 (40,977,870) (40,346,025)
Operating profit 24,580,935 22,257,199

Other income 619,362 628,307
General and administrative expenses 17 (3,962,880) (3,747,057)
Finance costs (3,572,404) (4,682,645)
Foreign currency loss (214,059) (140,947)
Profit before contribution to taxes 17,450,954 14,314,857
Zakat expense (177,283) (69,327)
Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (157,059) (128,834)
National Labour Support Tax (443,207) (173,317)
Profit for the year 16,673,405 13,943,379

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Ultimate Parent Company 16,673,405 13,943,379

Earnings per share (fils) – Basic and Diluted 18 39.70 38.37

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Kuwaiti Dinars
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Kuwaiti Dinars

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012

Profit for the year 16,673,405 13,943,379
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 108,093 407,275
Total comprehensive income for the year 16,781,498 14,350,654
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Ultimate Parent Company 16,781,498 14,350,654
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Kuwaiti Dinars

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows year ended 31 December 2013

Note 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 16,673,405 13,943,379
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 6,639,881 5,969,169
Finance costs 3,572,404 4,682,645
Foreign exchange loss 214,059 140,947
Provision for post employment benefits 316,000 250,000
Operating profit before working capital changes 27,415,749 24,986,140
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 11,701 (37,274)
Increase in deposits (3,027) (192,717)
Decrease in trade and other receivables 83,253 296,507
Decrease in trade and other payables (2,414,907) (2,706,523)
Decrease in aircraft lease maintenance reserve - (7,695,720)
Increase in deferred revenue 636,320 978,829
Post-employment benefits paid (38,674) (67,200)
Net cash from operating activities 25,690,415 15,562,042

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (19,429,559) (1,363,700)
Refund of advance paid for acquisition of aircraft - 3,987,158
(Increase)/decrease in advance for maintenance (317,178) 2,862,018
Increase in time deposits with banks (1,285,261) (1,404,300)
Increase in advance received from lessee 1,613,677 6,815,380
Change in non-controlling interest 71 70
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (19,418,250) 10,896,626

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of deferred purchase consideration (15,000,000) (14,183,033)
Proceeds from term loans (net) 7,983,501 22,819,253
Proceeds from/(repayment of) overdraft 180,629 (12,375,131)
Repayment of loan from related party (2,234,495) (5,528,431)
Proceeds from issuance of rights shares - 17,800,000
Finance costs paid (3,091,409) (3,128,165)
Increase in security deposit from lessee 252,756 -
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (11,909,018) 5,404,493

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,636,853) 31,863,161
Cash and cash equivalents at
  beginning of year 42,895,649 12,014,657
  effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (272,217) (982,169)
  end of year 8 36,986,579 42,895,649
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013

1. Constitution and activities

Jazeera Airways K.S.C.P (the “Ultimate Parent Company”) was incorporated by 
Amiri Decree on 3 March 2004 as a Kuwaiti Public Shareholding Company under the 
laws of Kuwait and is engaged in the business of air transportation and commercial 
passenger services under a license from the Directorate General of Civil Aviation.

The Ultimate Parent Company has the following subsidiaries:

Name of the Company Percentage
of Holding Description

Al Sahaab Aircraft 
Leasing Company W.L.L. 100% Intermediate Parent Company

Sahaab Aviation LLC 
(Trustor) 100%  Subsidiary of Intermediate Parent

Company

The Ultimate Parent Company, the Intermediate Parent Company and the 
subsidiary of Intermediate Parent Company are together referred to in these 
consolidated financial statements as the Group.

The address of the registered office of the Ultimate Parent Company is Kuwait 
international Airport, State of Kuwait. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board 
of Directors of the Ultimate Parent Company on 28 January 2014 and are subject 
to the approval of the shareholders at their forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

2. Basis of preparation and significant 
accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). These consolidated financial statements are prepared 
under the historical cost basis of measurement. These consolidated financial statements 
have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinar. 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgment 
or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are disclosed in Note 27.

2.2 Accounting policies
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are consistent with those used in the previous year, except for the following new and 
amended IASB Standards adopted during the year:

IFRS 7: Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments)
These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off and 
related arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users 
with information that is useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangements on an 
entity’s financial position. The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial 
instruments that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. 
The disclosures also apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an 
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether 
they are set off in accordance with IAS 32. The adoption of these amendments has not 
resulted in any material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements 
IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation guidance in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities by 
introducing a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, irrespective 
of the nature of the investee (i.e., whether an entity is controlled through voting rights 
of investors or through other contractual arrangements as is common in special purpose 
entities). Under IFRS 10, control is based on whether an investor has 1) power over the 

investee; 2) exposure or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, 
and 3) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the returns. 
The adoption of this Standard has not resulted in any impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group.

IFRS 12: Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities 
IFRS 12 sets out the requirements for disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. The requirements in 
IFRS 12 are more comprehensive than the previously existing disclosure requirements for 
subsidiaries, for example, where a subsidiary is controlled with less than a majority of 
voting rights. The adoption of this Standard has not resulted in any material additional 
disclosures.

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement 
IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements. 
IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides 
guidance on how to measure fair value under IFRS. IFRS 13 defines fair value as an 
exit price. As a result of the guidance in IFRS 13, the Group re-assessed its policies for 
measuring fair values. IFRS 13 also requires additional disclosures.
Application of IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value measurements of the 
Group. Additional disclosures where required are provided in the individual notes relating 
to the assets and liabilities whose fair values were determined. 

IAS 1: Financial Statement Presentation – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income (Amendment) 
The amendments to IAS 1 introduce a grouping of items presented in other comprehensive 
income. Items that will be reclassified (‘recycled’) to profit or loss at a future point in time 
have to be presented separately from items that will not be reclassified. The adoption of 
this Standard has no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IAS 1 Clarification of the requirement for comparative information (Amendment) 
The amendment to IAS 1 clarifies the difference between voluntary additional comparative 
information and the minimum required comparative information. An entity must include 
comparative information in the related notes to the financial statements when it 
voluntarily provides comparative information beyond the minimum required comparative 
period. The Group has not included any additional voluntarily comparative information in 
its consolidated financial statements. The amendments have no impact on the Group’s 
financial position or performance.

IAS 19: Employee Benefits (Amendment) 
IAS 19 includes a number of amendments to the accounting for defined benefit plans, 
including actuarial gains and losses that are now recognised in other comprehensive 
income (OCI) and permanently excluded from profit and loss; expected returns on plan 
assets that are no longer recognised in profit or loss, instead, there is a requirement to 
recognise interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) in profit or loss, calculated 
using the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation, and; unvested past 
service costs are now recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of when the amendment 
occurs or when the related restructuring or termination costs are recognised. Other 
amendments include new disclosures, such as, quantitative sensitivity disclosures. The 
adoption of this Standard has no material effect on the financial position or performance 
of the Group.

IAS 27: Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the new IFRS 10 and IFRS 12, what remains of IAS 27 is limited to 
accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in separate financial 
statements. The Group does not present separate financial statements.

IAS 32: Tax effects of distributions to holders of equity instruments (Amendment) 
The amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation clarifies that income taxes 
arising from distributions to equity holders are accounted for in accordance with IAS 
12 Income Taxes. The amendment removes existing income tax requirements from IAS 
32 and requires entities to apply the requirements in IAS 12 to any income tax arising 
from distributions to equity holders. The amendment did not have an impact on the 
consolidated financial information for the Group, as there is no tax consequences attached 
to cash or non-cash distribution.
Other amendments to IFRSs which are effective for annual accounting period starting from 
1 January 2013 did not have any material impact on the accounting policies, financial 
position or performance of the Group.
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Standards issued but not yet effective
The following IASB Standards have been issued/amended but are not yet 
mandatory, and have not been adopted by the Group:

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement 
of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets 
and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. In subsequent phases, the IASB is 
addressing hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. The adoption of 
the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement 
of the Group’s financial assets, but is not expected to have on financial liabilities. 
The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when the 
final Standard including all phases is issued. The Standard was initially effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but IASB in its November 
2013 meeting tentatively decided to defer the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 
until the issue date of the completed version of IFRS 9 is known.

Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2014 and provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that 
meet the definition of an investment entity under IFRS 10. The exception to 
consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value 
through profit or loss. It is not expected that this amendment would be relevant 
to the Group, since none of the entities in the Group would qualify to be an 
investment entity under IFRS 10.

IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial liabilities (Amendment)
The amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable 
right to set-off” and also clarify the application of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria 
to settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply 
gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact that this Standard will have on the consolidated financial 
position and performance when become effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014.

IAS 36: Impairment of Assets - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets (Amendment)
These amendments remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the 
disclosures required under IAS 36. In addition, these amendments require 
disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets or cash generating units for 
which impairment loss has been recognised or reversed during the period. These 
amendments are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2014 with earlier application permitted, provided IFRS 13 is also applied.
Adoption of other new or amended Standards are not expected to have 
material effect on the consolidated financial position or financial performance 
of the Group. Additional disclosures will be made in the consolidated financial 
statements when these Standards become effective.

2.3 Business Combinations 
A business combination is the bringing together of separate entities or businesses 
into one reporting entity as a result of one entity, the acquirer, obtaining control 
of one or more other businesses. The acquisition method of accounting is used 
to account for business combinations. The cost of acquisition is measured as the 
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or 
assumed at the date of the exchange. The acquisition related costs are expensed 
when incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination (net assets acquired in a business combination) 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Non-controlling 
interest in the subsidiary acquired is recognized either at the fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 
When a business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is re-measured at its acquisition-date fair value and the 
resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. The 
fair value of the equity of the acquiree at the acquisition date is determined 

using valuation techniques and considering the outcome of recent transactions 
for similar assets in the same industry in the same geographical region.

The Group separately recognizes contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination if it is a present obligation that arises from past events and its fair 
value can be measured reliably. 

The Group uses provisional values for the initial accounting of a business 
combination and recognizes any adjustment to these provisional values within 
the measurement period which is twelve months from the acquisition date.

2.4 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are those enterprises, including special purpose entities, controlled by the 
Group. Control is achieved when the Parent Company has power over the investee 
(i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee; exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; 
and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. The Parent 
Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Ultimate 
Parent Company and subsidiaries including special purpose entities. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Ultimate Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. All material inter-group 
balances and transactions, including inter-group profits and unrealised profits and losses 
are eliminated on consolidation.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group 
and cease to be consolidated from the date that control ceases. Control is achieved 
where the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of the subsidiaries acquired 
or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated income statement 
from the date of acquisition and up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.

Non-controlling interests represents the equity in the subsidiaries not attributable 
directly, or indirectly, to the equity holders of the Ultimate Parent Company. Equity 
and net income attributable to non-controlling interests are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated income statement, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of 
changes in Shareholders’ equity.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non controlling interest even if that 
results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted 
for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non controlling interest
• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
• Reclassifies the Ultimate Parent Company’s share of components previously

recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as 
appropriate.

2.5 Financial instruments

Classification
In the normal course of business the Group uses financial instruments, principally 
deposits, trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances, term loans, 
advance received from lessees, due to a related party, deferred purchase 
consideration, due to banks, trade and other payables and derivatives. 
The Group classifies financial assets as “loans and receivables” and all financial 
liabilities are classified as “other than at fair value through profit or loss”.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013
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Recognition/derecognition
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset is derecognised 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or 
when the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership; 
or when it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership and it no longer has control over the asset or portion of the asset. If the 
Group has retained control, it shall continue to recognise the financial asset to the 
extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced 
by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability.

All regular way purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized using trade 
date accounting. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 
regulations or conventions in the market place.

Measurement

Financial instruments
All financial assets or financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue are included 
in the fair value of the financial instrument. 

Loans and receivables
These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. These are subsequently measured and carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured and carried at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate. 

Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount initially 
recognized less any cumulative amortization and the best estimate of the present 
value of amount required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the 
guarantee.

Fair values 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. The fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rates for 
similar financial instruments.

Amortised Cost
Amortised cost is computed by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition of the financial instrument and fees and costs that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Derivatives with 
positive fair values (unrealised gains) are included in other receivables and derivatives 
with negative fair values (unrealised losses) are included in other payables in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. For hedges, which do not qualify for 
hedge accounting and for “held for trading” derivatives, any gains or losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the derivative are taken directly to the consolidated 
statement of income. For hedge accounting, the Group designates derivatives as 
either hedges of the fair value of recognized assets or liabilities or a firm commitment 
(fair value hedge); or hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognized asset 
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge) or hedges of a 
net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

Fair value hedge
In relation to fair value hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any 
gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument to fair value is recognized in 
‘Other receivables’ or ‘Other payables’ and in the consolidated statement of income. 
Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted 
against the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income.
If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the hedge 
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the hedge relationship is terminated. 
For hedged items recorded at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate, the 
difference between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination and the face 
value is amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge. If the hedged item is 
derecognized, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of income.

Cash flow hedge
For designated and qualifying cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized directly 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
When the hedged cash flow affects the consolidated statement of income, the gain or 
loss on the hedging instrument is ‘recycled’ in the corresponding income or expense 
line of the consolidated statement of income. When a hedging instrument expires, or 
is sold, terminated, exercised, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in shareholders’ equity at that time 
remains in shareholders’ equity and is recognized when the hedged forecast transaction 
is ultimately recognized in the consolidated statement of income. When a forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in 
shareholders’ equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated statement of income.

Impairment 
A financial asset is impaired if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount. An assessment is made at each date of statement of financial position to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that a specific financial asset or a group 
of similar assets may be impaired. If such evidence exists, the asset is written down 
to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an interest bearing instrument is 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from 
guarantees and collateral, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. If the financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.
Financial assets are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 

2.6 Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated provisions for impairment, if any. The cost of property and equipment consists 
of their purchase price and other directly attributable costs incurred to bringing them up to 
operating condition and ready for their intended use. The cost of aircraft and engines also 
includes borrowing costs incurred, until substantially all the activities necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use are complete.
The cost of property and equipment less estimated residual values is depreciated on 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Years

Leasehold improvements 5

Furniture & equipments 3 - 5 

Aircraft and engines 25

Rotables 2 - 3 

Vehicles 5

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost. When the asset is ready for its intended 
use, it is transferred from capital work-in-progress to the appropriate category under 
property and equipment and is depreciated from that date.

Rotable spare parts are classified as property and equipment if they are expected 
to be used over more than one period and are depreciated over their useful lives.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013
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Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income 
during the period in which they are incurred. Major modifications and improvements 
to property and equipment are capitalised and depreciated over the remaining useful 
life of the related asset.

The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed at each date of 
consolidated statement of financial position to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment in the carrying value. If any such indication exists, an 
impairment loss is recognised in consolidated statement of income, being the 
difference between the carrying value and the asset’s recoverable amount. For 
the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

2.7 Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is computed as the excess of the 
aggregate of: the consideration transferred; the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets, if any; and in a 
business combination achieved in stages the acquisition-date fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree, over the net of the 
acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. Any deficit is a gain from a bargain purchase and is recognized directly 
in the consolidated statement of income.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill 
is allocated to each of the cash generating units for the purpose of impairment 
testing. Gains and losses on disposal of an entity or a part of the entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity or the portion sold.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested at least 
annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows, known as cash generating units for the purpose of assessing impairment 
of goodwill and intangible assets. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 
to the other assets of the unit pro rata, on the basis of the carrying amount of each 
asset in the unit. That relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in a subsequent 
period. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and risk specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. The Group prepares 
formal five year plans for its businesses. These plans are used for the value in use 
calculation. Long range growth rates are used for cash flows into perpetuity beyond 
the five year period. Fair value less costs to sell is determined using valuation 
techniques and considering the outcome of recent transactions for similar assets in 
the same industry in the same geographical region.

2.8 Inventories, expendable parts and supplies 
Inventories, expendable parts and supplies are valued at the lower of weighted average 
cost and net realizable value after provision for slow moving and obsolete items.

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, current account with banks 
and time deposits with banks with maturities not exceeding three months from 
acquisition date.

2.10 Accounting for leases
Where the Group is the lessee
Operating lease
Leases of property and equipment under which all risks and rewards of ownership 
are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments 
made under operating leases are charged to consolidated statement of income 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Finance lease
Leases of property and equipment where the Group assumes substantially all the 
benefits and risks of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases 
are recognised as assets in the statement of financial position at the estimated 
present value of the related lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance charge so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the liability outstanding.

Where the Group is the lessor
Finance lease
Leases where the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are transferred 
to the lessee are classified as finance leases. Amounts due from finance lease 
are recorded as receivables. Finance lease receivable is initially recognised at an 
amount equal to present value of minimum lease payments receivable plus the 
present value of any unguaranteed residual value expected to accrue at the end 
of the lease term. Finance lease payments are allocated between finance lease 
income and reduction of finance lease receivable over the term of the lease in 
order to reflect a constant periodic return on the net investment outstanding in 
respect of the lease.

Operating lease
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the asset are classified as operating lease. Property and equipment which is 
subject to operating lease is presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position according to the nature of the asset. Lease income from operating leases 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of income on a straight line basis over 
the lease term. The depreciation policy for depreciable leased assets is consistent 
with the lessor’s normal depreciation policy for similar assets.

2.11 Manufacturers’ credits
Credits received from manufacturers in connection with acquisition of aircraft 
and engines are reduced from the cost of the related aircraft and engines or are 
taken to consolidated statement of income, depending on the terms of the credit.

2.12 Post employment benefits
The Parent Company is liable under Kuwait Labour Law to make payments under 
defined benefit plans payable to employees at cessation of employment.
This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to employees as 
a result of involuntary termination on the date of statement of financial position 
and approximates the present value of the final obligation.

2.13 Revenue recognition
Revenue from flight seats sold, but not flown, is included in deferred revenue and 
is recognised in consolidated statement of income when the service is provided. 
Miscellaneous fees and ancillary revenue are recognised in the period in which 
the service is provided. 
Operating lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of 
the lease. 
Interest on time deposits with banks is recognised on a time proportion basis 
using the effective interest rate.

2.14 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. 
Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised.

2.15 Foreign currency translation
The functional currency of an entity is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates and in the case of the Ultimate Parent Company 
it is the Kuwaiti Dinar and in the case of subsidiaries it is their respective national 
currencies or the applicable foreign currency. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013

34



Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing 
on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at the date of consolidated statement of financial position are 
translated to Kuwaiti Dinars at the rates of exchange prevailing on that date. 
Resultant gains and losses are taken to the consolidated statement of income. 

The income and cash flow statements of foreign operations are translated into 
the Ultimate Parent Company’s reporting currency at average exchange rates for 
the year and their statement of financial position are translated at exchange 
rates prevailing on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. 
Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign 
operations (including goodwill, long term receivables or loans and fair value 
adjustments arising on business combinations) are taken to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold, any 
resultant exchange differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

2.16 Provisions for liabilities
Provisions for liabilities are recognised when, as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

2.17 Income taxes
Income tax payable on profits is recognized as an expense in the period in which 
the profits arise, based on the applicable tax laws in each jurisdiction.
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary 
differences, at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax provisions depend on whether the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and whether 
it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based 
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary differences, including carry-
forward of unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. The 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each date of consolidated 
statement of financial position and reduced to the extent that it is not probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax assets to be utilised.

2.18 Contingencies
Contingent assets are not recognised as an asset till realisation becomes virtually 
certain. Contingent liabilities are not recognized as liabilities unless, as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required 
to settle a present obligation (legal or constructive) and the amount can be 
reliably estimated.

3. Special purpose entity

The Intermediate Parent Company has four subsidiaries, Jazeera Leasing Company 
(JLC), Sahaab Aircraft Leasing Company - 1 (SALC-1), Sahaab Aircraft Leasing 
Company - 2 (SALC-2) and Sahaab Aircraft Leasing Company - 3 (SALC-3), Cayman 
Island companies, incorporated with an authorised capital of USD 1,000, USD 
50,000, USD 50,000 and USD 250 respectively. The issued and fully paid up capital 
as of 31 December 2013 are USD 1,000, USD 1, USD 250 and USD 250 respectively, 
equivalent to KD 287, KD 0.276, KD 70 and KD 71. JLC, SALC-1, SALC-2 and SALC-3 
are Special Purpose Entities (“SPE”) fully owned by third parties and are set up 
for the sole purpose of arranging finance for acquiring aircraft and engines and 
for leasing them to the Intermediate Parent Company under finance leases. JLC, 
SALC-1, SALC-2 and SALC-3 have been consolidated in these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”.

Sahaab Aviation LLC (“Trustor”) has created “Sahaab Trust” in association with 
Wells Fargo Bank Northwest National Association (“Owner Trustee”), a national 
banking association organised and existing under the laws of the United States 
of America. Sahaab Trust is a Special Purpose Entity (“SPE”) set up for the sole 
purpose of ensuring regulatory requirement of ownership of aircraft by a citizen 
of the United States of America. Sahaab Trust has been consolidated in these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 10 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013
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Depreciation has been allocated in the consolidated statement of income as follows:

Kuwaiti Dinars

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013

2013 2012

Operating costs 6,333,202 5,567,069
General and administrative expenses 306,679 402,100

6,639,881 5,969,169

5. Deposits

This represents deposits, denominated in US Dollars, with a lender of term loan. The effective interest rate as at 31 December 2013 was 0.095% 
(31 December 2012: 0.095%).

6. Goodwill 
Goodwill represents consideration paid in excess of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities including contingent liabilities in the acquisition of the 
Intermediate Parent Company, Al Sahaab Aircraft Leasing Company W.L.L, in the year 2010.
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7. Trade and other receivables

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value. 

Trade receivables outstanding for less than three months are not considered as past due. As of 31 December 2013, trade receivables amounting to KD 320,245 (31 
December 2012: KD 313,757) are neither past due nor impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. 
Furthermore, these trade receivables are substantially secured by bank guarantees. 

As of 31 December 2013, trade receivables of KD 127,390 (31 December 2012: KD 127,390) were past due and impaired and fully provided for. The other classes within 
trade and other receivables do not contain past due or impaired assets.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars

2013 2012

Trade receivables 447,635 441,147
Provision for impairment (127,390) (127,390)
Net trade receivables 320,245 313,757
Prepayments 498,998 613,044
Deposits 453,241 416,430
Other receivables 94,992 88,589
Staff receivables 24,896 43,805

1,392,372 1,475,625

2013 2012

Kuwaiti Dinars 490,840 601,005
US Dollars 435,218 447,485
Egyptian Pounds 233,333 226,014
UAE Dirham 18,258 14,573
Others 214,723 186,548

1,392,372 1,475,625
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8. Cash and bank balances

The effective interest rate on time deposits as of 31 December 2013 was 1.31% to 2.50% (31 December 2012: 0.47% to 2.50%).

The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

9. Share capital
The authorised share capital of the Ultimate Parent Company as at 31 December 2013 is KD 42,000,000 (31 December 2012: KD 42,000,000) comprising of 420,000,000 
shares of 100 fils each (31 December 2012: 420,000,000 shares of 100 fils each) and the issued and fully paid up share capital of the Ultimate Parent Company, is 
KD 42,000,000, paid in cash (31 December 2012: KD 24,200,000) comprising of 420,000,000 shares of 100 fils each (31 December 2012: 242,000,000 shares of 100 
fils each).

Proposed dividend
The Ultimate Parent Company’s Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend of 15 fils per share to the shareholders, amounting to KD 6,300,000 for the year ended 
31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: KD Nil), subject to approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Assembly.

10. Reserves
Legal reserve
In accordance with the Companies Law and the Ultimate Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of net profit has to be appropriated to legal reserve. Accordingly, 
10% of the profit before contributions to taxes has been appropriated to Legal Reserve. The legal reserve can be utilized only for distribution of a maximum dividend 
of up to 5% in years when the retained earnings are inadequate for this purpose. 

Voluntary reserve
The Ultimate Parent Company’s Articles of Association stipulates that the Board of Directors may propose appropriations to voluntary reserve for shareholders’ approval. 
During the year, the Board of Directors have not proposed any transfer to voluntary reserve. There is no restriction on the distribution of voluntary reserve.

Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars

2013 2012

Cash on hand 34,289 23,868
Current account with banks 13,640,810 29,729,850
Time deposits with banks 23,311,480 13,141,931
Cash & cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 36,986,579 42,895,649
Time deposits with banks whose original maturity period exceeds three months 6,277,210 4,991,949
Cash and bank balances 43,263,789 47,887,598

2013 2012

Kuwaiti Dinars 24,102,999 27,193,893
US Dollars 18,234,344 20,077,826
UAE Dirham 15,826 15,483
Others 910,620 600,396

43,263,789 47,887,598
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11. Term loans 

This includes three loans as follows:

a) Term loans of KD 79.06 million (31 December 2012: KD 71.11 million), represent senior loans arranged through JLC, SALC-1, SALC-2, SALC-3 and Owner
Trustee. They are denominated in US Dollars and represent the balance amounts due to local banks and European banks. The effective interest rate as of 
31 December 2013 was 1.91% to 6.52% (31 December 2012: 1.30% to 6.52%) and these term loans are secured by a first priority charge/pledge over 
the shares of JLC, SALC-1, SALC-2 and SALC-3 and a first priority registered aircraft mortgage over each aircraft. These are repayable over a period up to 
28 May 2025.

b) Term loan of KD 4.23 million (31 December 2012: KD 12.66 million) denominated in US Dollars represents the balance amount due to a local bank. This
facility is fully guaranteed by the Ultimate Parent Company. This is repayable over a period up to 30 June 2014. The effective interest rate as at 31 
December 2013 was 2.99% (31 December 2012: 3.22%).

c) Term loan of KD 18.46 million (31 December 2012: KD 10 million) denominated in Kuwaiti Dinar represents facility from a local banks. This facility is  secured by a
    pledge of the shares of the Intermediate Parent Company. The effective interest rate as at 31 December 2013 was 4.2% (31 December 2012: 4.2%).

12. Advance received from lessees

This represents advance received from lessees for future maintenance of leased aircraft, under the term of the operating lease agreement and are primarily based 
on actual flying hours. 

13. Due to banks

This represents unsecured overdraft facility of USD 1.05 million (2012: USD 407 thousand) from a local commercial bank. The effective interest rate as of 31 December 
2013 was 2.24% (31 December 2012: 2.47%).

14. Trade and other payables

Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars

2013 2012

Term loans are repayable as follows: 
Not later than 1 year 21,215,398 17,572,209

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 17,246,331 23,571,487
Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years 47,754,126 40,784,328
Over 5 years 15,536,922 11,841,252

80,537,379 76,197,067
101,752,777 93,769,276

2013 2012

Trade payables 3,233,607 5,299,297
Accrued expenses 3,155,829 2,301,753
Tax payable 1,931,148 2,570,525
Staff leave payable 816,679 688,715
Others 83,944 80,770

9,221,207 10,941,060
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15. Revenue

16. Operating costs

Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars

2013 2012

Kuwaiti Dinars 6,302,987 6,739,463
US Dollars 1,108,852 1,265,147
UAE Dirham 378,501 404,227
Euro 35,229 442,128
Others 1,395,638 2,090,095

9,221,207 10,941,060

2013 2012

Passenger revenue 55,480,694 52,320,446
Ancillary revenue 4,075,394 3,734,571
Lease rental 6,002,717 6,548,207

65,558,805 62,603,224

2013 2012

Staff costs 5,209,140 5,121,699
Depreciation 6,333,202 5,567,069
Aircraft fuel and maintenance 17,669,319 18,489,665
Overflying, landing and ground handling charges 5,320,294 5,190,136
Insurance 489,865 515,471
Lease maintenance 3,042,865 2,691,141
Others 2,913,185 2,770,844

40,977,870 40,346,025

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:
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17. General and administrative expenses

The number of personnel employed by the Group as of 31 December 2013 was 428 (31 December 2012: 426).

18. Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated based on the earnings attributable to the equity shareholders of the Ultimate Parent Company for the year and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding, as follows:

19. Related party transactions and balances

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions with related parties (directors, key managerial personnel and group companies). Pricing policies and terms 
of these transactions are approved by the management. Transactions and balances with related parties not disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements are as follows:

Kuwaiti Dinars

2013 2012

Staff costs 2,076,058 1,828,919
Rent 111,489 111,202
Professional and consultancy 265,867 215,522
Travel 103,127 83,412
Marketing 792,654 767,538
Depreciation  306,679 402,100
Others  307,006 338,364

 3,962,880 3,747,057

2013 2012

Earnings for the year (in Kuwaiti Dinar) 16,673,405 13,943,379
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 420,000,000 363,419,360
Earnings per share (fils) – Basic and Diluted 39.70 38.37

Kuwaiti Dinars

2013 2012

Balance
Due from related parties 17,102 44,236

Transactions
Sales and services 1,788,088 2,239,645
General and administrative expenses 95,471 360,914

Key management compensation
Salaries and other employment benefits 720,153 703,442
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20. Taxes 

The Ultimate Parent Company has exemptions from tax liability under bilateral tax agreement with countries to which it operates passenger flights. However, the 
Ultimate Parent Company is contingently liable for any taxes that may finally be determined by the taxation authorities of those countries.

21. Segment information

The Group derives their revenue primarily from operation of passenger airline service and leasing of aircraft and engines. The segment information provided to the 
key management for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2013 is as follows:

Reportable segment’s assets and liabilities:

Revenue from external customers in the ‘leasing of aircraft’ segment primarily represents lease income from aircraft leased out and operating in the United States of 
America and Sri Lanka.

22. Derivatives

The Group has hedged part of its interest rate risk from floating rate liabilities using interest rate options. As at 31 December 2013, interest rate options with an 
aggregate notional amount of KD 4,784,416 (31 December 2012: KD 5,481,227) and a positive fair value of KD 53,007 (31 December 2012: KD 63,259) were designated 
as hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge.

Kuwaiti Dinars

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Passenger 
airline service Leasing of aircraft Total Passenger 

airline Service Leasing of aircraft Total

Segment revenue 59,556,088 14,832,197 74,388,285 56,055,018 15,047,980 71,102,998
Less: Intersegment revenue - (8,829,480) (8,829,480) - (8,499,774) (8,499,774)
Revenue from external customers 59,556,088 6,002,717 65,558,805 56,055,018 6,548,206 62,603,224
Reportable segment 
Profit before contribution to taxes 13,034,614 4,416,340 17,450,954 8,425,973 5,888,884 14,314,857

Kuwaiti Dinars

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Passenger 
airline service Leasing of aircraft Total Passenger 

airline Service Leasing of aircraft Total

Total assets 27,168,790 179,841,177 207,009,967 35,740,643 162,497,894 198,238,537
Allocated liabilities 36,543,130 94,882,716 131,425,846 31,400,455 93,441,601 124,842,056
Un allocated liabilities - - 777,549 - - 15,371,478
Total liabilities 36,543,130 94,882,716 132,203,395 31,400,455 93,441,601 140,213,534
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23. Contingent liabilities and Commitments 

The Group has issued bank guarantee to regulatory agencies and third party service providers amounting to KD 2,068,651 (31 December 2012: KD 2,078,369). 
The Ultimate Parent Company has also provided guarantee to Jazeera Leasing Company, the lessor of novated lease agreement, in respect of the obligations and 
liabilities of the Intermediate Parent Company pursuant to the novated lease agreement. 

In accordance with the novation agreement, the Ultimate Parent Company has guaranteed the aircraft supplier the due and punctual observance and performance of 
all the obligations of the buyer to pay any monies falling due for payments by the buyer under the novated purchase agreement.
The Group is contractually committed to the acquisition of one aircraft (31 December 2012: three) with a list price of approximately KD 19,749,100 (31 December 2012: 
KD 59,083,500). This aircraft has to be acquired over a period of one year.

24. Operating lease income
The future minimum lease rent receivable on the operating lease is KD 30,858,279 (31 December 2012: KD 36,188,826) and is receivable as follows:

25. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors
The Group’s use of financial instruments exposes it to a variety of financial risks such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group continuously reviews its 
risk exposures and takes measures to limit it to acceptable levels. Risk management is carried out by the Group Finance function under policies approved by the Board 
of Directors. This function identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides principles for overall risk 
management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity. 

The significant risks that the Group is exposed to are discussed below:
(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The 
Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar. Foreign currency 
risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.
Group management has set up a policy that requires Group companies to manage their foreign currency risk against their functional currency. Foreign currency risk 
arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
The Group is primarily exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities 
such as trade and other receivables, deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables due to banks and term loans. The Group’s exposure to foreign 
currencies have been disclosed in the Notes relating to the respective financial instruments.
If as at 31 December 2013, Kuwaiti Dinars had weakened against the major currencies by 5% with all other variables held constant the net impact on the profit/
equity, as of 31 December 2013, is shown below:

Kuwaiti Dinars

Kuwaiti Dinars

2013 2012

Not later than one year 5,383,041 5,375,790
Later than one year but not later than five years 20,072,269 20,856,118
Later than five years 5,402,969 9,956,918

30,858,279 36,188,826

Impact on profit Impact on equity

2013 2012 2013 2012

Currency
US Dollar (3,333,758) (3,251,111) (4,075,990) (2,968,195)
UAE Dirham (17,221) (18,709) - -
Others (3,610) (75,963) - -
Net impact (3,354,589) (3,345,783) (4,075,990) (2,968,195)

A 5% strengthening of the Kuwaiti Dinars against the above currencies would have had the equal but the opposite effect on profit/equity for the year.
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(ii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from deposits, bank borrowings and term loans. Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. 
Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s borrowings as of 31 December 2013 are exposed to variable rates of interest.

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions 
and alternative financing. Based on these scenarios, the Group calculates the impact on consolidated statement of income of a defined interest rate shift. For each 
simulation, the same interest rate shift is used for all currencies. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions. The 
Group manages interest rate risk by monitoring interest rate movements and using Interest Rate Options to hedge interest rate risk exposures, wherever necessary.

At 31 December 2013, if interest rates at that date had been 50 basis points higher with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been lower 
by KD 357,542 (31 December 2012: KD 460,619).
A 50 basis points decrease in the interest rates at the date of statement of financial position would have had the equal but the opposite effect on profit for the year.

(iii) Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether these changes are caused by factors 
specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments, traded in the market.
The Group is not exposed to equity price risk as it does not have any financial instrument exposed to equity price risk. 

(iv) Fuel price risk
The airline industry is exposed to fluctuations in the price of jet fuel. The Group closely monitors the actual cost of fuel against forecasted cost. The Group utilises 
commodity rate swaps, as and when it deems necessary, to achieve a level of control over jet fuel costs so that profitability is not adversely affected.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation causing the other party to incur a financial loss. Financial assets, which 
potentially subject the Group’s to credit risk, consist principally of bank deposits and receivables. The Group manages this risk by placing deposits with high credit rating 
financial institutions. Credit risk with respect to receivables is limited due to the Group’s credit management policies and dispersion across large number of customers.

The maximum exposures to credit risk of the Group are as follows:

Cash equivalents represents current and short term deposits with banks which have been given high ratings by reputed external credit rating agencies.
The Group’s trade receivables are substantially secured by bank guarantees and largely comprise of amounts receivable from reputed travel agents. Concentration of 
credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s customer base being large and unrelated. Information on the extent of credit exposure on 
the Group’s trade receivables is given in Note No. 7. 

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due. Liquidity risk management 
includes maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. 
The Ultimate Parent Company’s Board of Directors increases capital or borrowings based on ongoing review of funding requirements. 

Kuwaiti Dinars

2013 2012

Advance for maintenance 3,797,061 3,479,883
Deposits 863,830 860,803
Trade and other receivables, excluding prepayments 893,374 862,581
Cash equivalents 43,229,500 47,863,730

48,783,765 53,066,997
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The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the date of statement of financial position 
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying 
balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

26. Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new 
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt 
is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus 
net debt. As at 31 December 2013, the gearing ratio was 44% (31 December 2012: 52%).

Kuwaiti Dinars

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013

31 December 2012
Term Loans 17,882,431 24,498,869 66,686,056 12,903,842
Security deposits from lessees - - - 1,260,448
Due to related party 2,257,827 - - -
Deferred purchase consideration 15,029,904 - - -
Due to banks 114,621 - - -
Trade and other payables 10,941,060 - - -
Advance received from lessees - - 8,177,821 -
Bank Guarantee 2,078,369 - - -

48,304,212 24,498,869 74,863,877 14,164,920

Less than 1 Year Between 1 and 2 years Between 2 and 5 years Over 5 years

31 December 2013
Term Loans 23,625,513 19,465,637 51,981,795 16,348,105
Security deposits from lessees - - 1,513,204
Due to banks 295,250 - - -
Trade and other payables 9,221,207 - - -
Advance received from lessees - - 9,791,498 -
Bank Guarantee 2,068,651 - - -

35,210,621 19,465,637 61,773,293 17,861,309
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27. Critical accounting judgments and estimates

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that may affect amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements. Estimates are revised if changes occur in 
the circumstances on which the estimates were based. The areas where estimates and assumptions are significant to the financial statements, or areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement, are:

Substance of relationship with special purpose entities
Where the Parent Company obtains benefits from a special purpose entity, management considers the substance of the relationship to judge if the entity is controlled 
by the Parent Company. 

Financial instruments carried at amortized cost
The effective yield method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial instrument involves the estimation of future cash flows through the expected life of the 
instrument.

Impairment of assets
The Group reviews assets at each reporting date to assess whether a provision for impairment loss should be recognized in the consolidated statement of income. The 
process for estimating the amount of an impairment loss involves considerable judgement by management with respect to the estimation of future cash flows. Such 
estimates and assumptions are also based on several other factors involving varying degrees of judgement and uncertainty.

Useful lives of property and equipment
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and residual values of property and equipment. Estimated useful lives could change significantly as a result of change 
in technology. The depreciation charge for the year will change significantly if actual life is different from the estimated useful life of the asset. 

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. Provisions for liabilities are recorded when a loss is considered probable and can be reasonably 
estimated. The determination of whether or not a provision should be recorded for any potential liabilities is based on management’s judgements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013
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11-Sep-04
Jazeera Airways commercial 
license issued by the Ministry 
of Commerce

10-Nov-04
Jazeera Airways Air Operators 
Certificate (AOC) granted by 
Kuwait’s Directorate General for 
Civil Aviation

24-Nov-04
Jazeera Airways places its first 
aircraft order with Airbus for 
four Airbus A320s

12-Sep-05
Jazeera Airways forms (under 
establishment) with a target 
capital of KD10 million

26-May-04
Jazeera Airways kicks off IPO, 
first airline IPO in the Middle 
East

10-Jun-04
Jazeera Airways concludes IPO, 
which was oversubscribed 12 
times

30-Oct-05
Jazeera Airways starts operations, 
first flight takes off to Dubai

31-Oct-05
Jazeera Airways launches flights to 
Beirut

10-Nov-05
Jazeera Airways receives second 
brand new Airbus A320 from Airbus 
and launches flights to Bahrain, 
Amman and Damascus

21-Nov-05
Jazeera Airways increases aircraft 
order to six Airbus A320s, announced 
at the Dubai Airshow, and signs 
Lufthansa Technik for engineering 
and maintenance

24-Oct-05
Jazeera Airways starts commercial 
operations. The first seat is sold 
to Dubai

24-Oct-05
Jazeera Airways receives its first 
brand new Airbus A320

29-Oct-05
Jazeera Airways operation is 
officially launched by the then 
Prime Minister of Kuwait, H.H. 
Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber 
Al-Sabah

04-Mar-06
Jazeera Airways passes the 100,000 
passengers mark for the first time

26-Mar-06
Jazeera Airways launches flights to Aleppo

11-Apr-06
Jazeera Airways receives ‘Most Innovative 
Deal of the Year’ award by AirFinance

01-May-06
Jazeera Airways launches flights to Luxor

03-May-06
Jazeera Airways launches flights to 
Alexandria

24-Jun-06
Jazeera Airways receives its third Airbus 
A320

08-Jul-06
Jazeera Airways receives its fourth Airbus 
A320

03-Aug-06
Jazeera Airways launches flights to Assiut

05-Aug-06
Jazeera Airways launches flights to Mashhad

20-Sep-06
Jazeera Airways resumes flights to Beirut 
after the 2006 war. First flight offered free to 
passengers

08-Oct-06
Jazeera Airways receives shareholders 
approval to increase capital by 100% (through 
a rights issue) and the listing of the airline on 
the Kuwait Stock Exchange

30-Oct-06
Jazeera Airways celebrates one year of 
operations

19-Nov-06
Kuwait’s Prime Minister Sheikh Nasser 
Al-Mohammad Al-Sabah signs a Jazeera 
Airways aircraft in a ceremony to mark the 
airline’s one year anniversary

31-Dec-06
Jazeera Airways passes the 600,000 
passengers mark in 2006

Net Profit (KD Million)
Revenue (KD Million)

16

12

8

4

-4

-8

-12

Jazeera Airways gains 
approval from the 
Kuwaiti government

JAZEERA AIRWAYS GROUP 
MILESTONES
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29-Jan-07
Jazeera Airways receives its fifth 
Airbus A320

15-Apr-07
Jazeera Airways announces net 
profit of KD2.5 million in 2006

18-Jun-07
Jazeera Airways orders four new 
Airbus A320s aircraft at Paris 
Airshow

28-Oct-07
Jazeera Airways announces flights 
to Jeddah and Riyadh

01-Nov-07
Jazeera Airways concludes rights 
issue and increases capital to 
KD20 million

27-Dec-07
Jazeera Airways receives its sixth 
Airbus A320

31-Dec-07
Jazeera Airways carries 1.2 
million passengers in 2007

14-Jan-08
Jazeera Airways lists on the Kuwait 
Stock Exchange (KSE), making it the 
first listed airline on the KSE

16-Jan-08
Jazeera Airways launches flights to 
Jeddah and Riyadh

02-Mar-08
Jazeera Airways launches flights to 
Istanbul

29-Oct-08
Jazeera Airways receives its seventh 
Airbus A320 aircraft

05-Nov-08
Jazeera Airways receives its eighth 
Airbus A320 aircraft

19-Nov-08
Jazeera Airways crosses the three 
million passengers mark, and launches 
1 million seat sale to celebrate the 
achievement 06-Sep-09

Jazeera Airways ranked the 
largest operator at Kuwait 
Inernational Airport in terms 
of flown passengers

06-OCt-09
Jazeera Airways launches 
Jazeera Business Class

14-Jan-09
Jazeera Airways launches flights to 
Deir Ezzor, Syria

06-May-09
Jazeera Airways announces net 
profit of KD4.45 million for 2008

06-Jun-09
Jazeera Airways receives its ninth 
Airbus A320 aircraft

08-Jun-09
Jazeera Airways implements 
state-of-the-art reservation system 
(Navitaire New Skies 3.0)

20-Jun-09
Jazeera Airways receives its 10th 
Airbus A320 aircraft

14-Jan-10
Jazeera Airways receives its 11th 
Airbus A320 aircraft 

24-Jan-10
Jazeera Airways completes $105 
million ECA financing with Natixis for 
three Airbus A320 aircraft

02-Feb-10
Jazeera Airways becomes the sixth 
largest carrier in Lebanon

15-Feb-10
Jazeera Airways acquires 100% of 
Sahaab Aircraft Leasing for KD25.6 
million

30-Mar-10
Jazeera Airways announces KD8.2 
million net loss for FY2009

02-May-10
Jazeera Airways launches its business 
Turn-Around Plan (TAP) to bring the 
company back to profitability

10-Oct-10
Sahaab Aircraft Leasing leases four 
Airbus A320s to Virgin America

25-Oct-10
Jazeera Airways passes the one million 
passengers mark for 2010

08-Nov-10
Jazeera Airways announces record net 
profit of KD4.4 million for Q3, 2010

23-Nov-10
Jazeera Airways launches non-stop 
flights to Sohag, Egypt

11-Dec-10
Jazeera Airways leads Kuwaiti airlines 
in market share in October 2010

12-Dec-10
Jazeera Airways increases Sahaab 
Leasing capital by KD9 million

13-Dec-10
Sahaab Aircraft Leasing places an 
Airbus A320 with SriLankan Airlines
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20-Feb-11
Jazeera Airways grabs largest 
market share on operated routes 
in 2010

22-Feb-11
Jazeera Airways announces record 
net profit of KD2 million for Q4, 
2010

06-Apr-11
Jazeera Airways announces delivery 
dates for four brand new Airbus 
A320s, to be delivered by 2014

02-May-11
Jazeera Airways receives IOSA 
certification by IATA for having 
world class operational standards

03-May-11
Jazeera Airways announces record net 
profit of KD1.1 million for Q1, 2011

18-May-11
Jazeera Airways launches first flight 
to Cairo

07-Jun-11
Jazeera Airways joins IATA, becoming 
its 238th airline-member

20-Jun-11
Jazeera Airways expands CFM56-5B 
powered A320 fleet with $80 million 
engines order

08-Aug-11
Jazeera Airways announces record net 
profit of KD2.2 million for Q2, 2011

31-Oct-11
Jazeera Airways announces record net 
profit of KD6.1 million for the first
9 months of 2011

04-Mar-12
Took delivery of a new Airbus A320, the 
12th addition to Jazeera Airways Group’s 
fleet

15-Mar-12
Launched Android and iOS native booking 
apps

15-Apr-12
Launched non-stop flights between 
Kuwait and the Iraqi city of Najaf, the 
first commercial service between the two 
countries in 22 years

01-May-12
Following the record-breaking earnings of 
2011, bonus shares issued to shareholders

10-Jun-12
Introduced self check-in kiosks at Kuwait 
International Airport, the first and only 
airline with a self check-in service

31-Dec-12
Ranked world leader in OTP as tracked by 
US-based FlightStats

16-Jun-13
Jazeera Airways Group secures USD90 
million in aircraft funding from Kuwait’s 
NBK, and DVB Bank SE

30-Jul-3
Jazeera Airways Group announces best 
first-half earnings in history, of KD7.5 
million

27-Oct-13
Jazeera Airways launches flights to the 
all-new Al Maktoum International Airport 
in Dubai World Central

28-Oct-13 
Jazeera Airways Group announces record 
profit for a nine month period, of KD14.1 
million

1-Nov-13
Jazeera Airways receives its 14th Airbus 
A320

20-Nov-13
Sahaab Aircraft Leasing places an Airbus 
A320 with KSA-based Nasair

20-Jan-13
Jazeera Airways Group succesfully concludes 
rights issue of 178 million shares, raising 
capital to KD42 million. The rights issue was 
oversubscribed 2.25 times 

6-Feb-13
Jazeera Airways Group announces best year on 
record until FY 2012 with KD13.9 million profit

24-Apr-13
Jazeera Airways Group announces record net 
profit for a Q1 period, of KD3.6 million

1-Jun-13
Jazeera Airways receives its 13th Airbus A320

15-May-13
Kuwait Stock Exchange (KSE) inducts Jazeera 
Airways into the ‘Kuwait 15 index KSX15’ - an 
index of the 15 top performers on the KSE
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